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SUMMARY

A STUDY OF THE HISTORY OF PHARMACY IN KAYSERI

Kayseri, a city which has been an important
center of culture and civilization throughout
its 6000 year history, was a significant settle-
ment primarily for the Assyrians, the Hittites,
the Phrygians, followed by the Roman Empire,
the Anatolian (Turkish) Seljuks and the Otto-
man Empire (246, 247).

Particularly during the rule of the Anatolian
Seljuks and the Ottoman Empire, Kayseri sho-
wed important social, cultural and economic
development due to its location at a “critical
junction” in central Anatolia. This contributed
considerably to Kayseri’s development in the
field of medicine and pharmacy, the most
conclusive evidence of which is the Gevher
Nesibe Hatun Dar’us-sifa (Gevher Nesibe Ha-
tun Hospital and Medical Madrasah) which
was built in the early 13th century (1206) by
Giyaseddin Keyhtisrev I, a Sultan of the Seljuk
Turks, in honor of his sister Gevher Nesibe

Sultan (248).

The Dar’us-sifa contains both a “madrasah” in
which applied medical training took place and
a “hospital” where the sick were treated (249).

Today it is referred to by various names such
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as Cifte Medrese, Kayseri Dariissifasi, Sifa Ha-
tun Darissifasi, Kayseri Tibbiyesi, Giyasiye,
Gevher Nesibe Hastanesi, and so on (250). It is
assumed that this madrasah-hospital was
fully-staffed, including at least two specialists
in internal medicine, two surgeons, one phar-
macist, one head doctor (ser-tabib) and some
assistants (251). Medical training was provi-
ded until the 19th century at which time the
Ottoman Empire began offering its own medi-

cal education.

In the 19th century, a few Muslim Turkish
pharmacists graduated from the Military
School of Medicine (Askeri Tibbiye Mektebi)
after 1840 and from the Civil School of Medi-
cine (Sivil Tibbiye Mektebi) in the 1870s. Be-
cause these Muslim graduates took positions
in state and army hospitals, for a number of
years private pharmacies in Kayseri were ope-
ned and managed only by minority backgro-
und pharmacists (252). These non-Muslim
pharmacists who came to Kayseri and opened
pharmacies awarded pharmacist degrees to
those who completed apprenticeship training,
since the School of Medicine (Mekteb-i Tibbi-

ye-i Adliye-i Sahane) was unable to supply an



adequate number of pharmacists. Therefore,
the number of the non-Muslim pharmacists in
Kayseri increased rapidly (253). As a result,
the pharmaceutical institution in Kayseri was
managed by non-Muslims through the begin-
ning of the 20th century. In 1905, the first Mus-
lim pharmacist, Mustafa Mahir, opened a
pharmacy in partnership with a non-Muslim
pharmacist. According to our research, the
non-Muslim pharmacists who worked in Kay-
seri are as follows: Hayk Artinyan, Misak Bal-
yan, Agop Berberyan, Karnig Circiryan, Sissak
Der Kougassian, Hirant Donigyan, Agop Kal-
pakciyan, Hayk Artin Kelartinyan, istepan Cor-
luyan, Kevork Sekerciyan, [zak Efendi (254),
Bogos Kaltakciyan and Kievork Mardinyan
(255, 256).

During the end of the 19th century, the Ameri-
can Board came to Kayseri and opened a
school in Talas which offered medical training
(257). The Board soon opened a clinic there -
probably due to the inadequacy of health or-
ganizations in Kayseri at that time — which sta-
yed open until 1972. During this period, Ame-
rican doctors such as Dr.William Dodd, Dr.
Post, Dr.Delyanides, Dr.Wilson Dodd (son of
Dr.William Dodd), and Dr. Nute worked in this
hospital (258). During the 1960s, Dr. Warren H.
Winkler set up a medicine chest at the hospi-
tal from which he supplied patients with medi-

cine (259, 260).

The Municipal Pharmacy (Belediye Eczanesi)
was opened by Tavlusunlu Mehmet Ali Efendi,
the mayor of Kayseri. In the 1890s it provided
medicine to the poor free of charge and arran-
ged sales to others in accordance with their
income (261). Pharmacists such as Mustafa ib-
rahim Efendi, Mustafa Mahir Kafescioglu and
ibrahim Hakki Gover, each of whom eventu-
ally opened their own pharmacies, first wor-
ked in this pharmacy (262). The building har-
boring the Municipal Pharmacy was demolis-
hed during the governorship of Nazmi Toker
(1933-36) (263), at which time it was moved to
a one story structure near the Rasit Efendi
Library in the Cami Kebir Quarter. Soon after,
pharmacist Ibrahim H.Gover, who at the time
taught chemistry at Kayseri Lisesi (Kayseri
High School), purchased the pharmacy. Pre-
ferring his teaching job, he closed the phar-
macy in 1937, after a complaint was issued
that he could not run a pharmacy and at the

same time be a state employee.

During the course of the 20th century, it was
noted that the number of the Muslim Turkish
pharmacists in Kayseri had risen. Below is a
list of these pharmacists, along with their gra-
duation dates from Pharmacy School and the
date when they started their pharmacies in
Kayseri. (This list includes only those pharma-
cists who graduated before 1960 and were

operating pharmacies in Kayseri.)
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Name

Graduation -pharmacy established

1. Mustafa Mahir KAFESCIOGLU (1880-1952)

2. Talash (Esat¢l) Mehmed Efendi

3. Mustafa Ibrahim (BAYIR) (1878 — 1933)

4. ibrahim Hakki GOVER (1884 - 1942)

5. Nuh Naci SARIABDULLAHOGLU (1880-1952)

6. Koca Bekirzade Osman Azmi

7. Ahmed Hayrettin BILGEN (1894 - 1980)

8. Cemal EMDEN (1902 - 1976)

9. Hazim GONEN (1904 - 1969)

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22,

23.

24.

25.

Mustafa GUNTAN (1911-1984)
Mehmet OGUZ (1921 - 1997)

Sevim BAMAC (1922)

Mustafa KILICER (1923 - 1997)
Mehmet KOSEHALILOGLU(1924-1976)
Naime DEMIRKAN (1919)

Turgut TIRASOGLU (1922)

Fatma Nezihe CAYIRLIOGLU (1925-?)
Necdet TAS (1926)

Mehpare AYTEKIN (1928)

Mustafa M. OZBAKIR (1929 - 1997)
N. Mehmet KASIKCI (1930)

Ahmet DOGAN (1932)

Ozdemir AKGUN (1933)

Yilmaz KOCAK (1933 - 2000)

Vural DEMIRCIOGLU (1934)
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1902

1903
1904
1905
(information unavailable)
1920
1924
1925
1939
1942
1943 ?
1946
1947
1949
?
1948

1952

1951
1954
1954
1958
1958

1959

1905

later 1917

19147

1919

1924

1925

1927

1925

1952

1956

1954

1949

1951

1952

1955

1953

1955

1957

1958

1960

1961



Mustafa Mahir Kafescioglu (1880-1952), the
first Muslim Turkish pharmacist in Kayseri,
became the pharmacist of the Municipal Phar-
macy in Kayseri in 1917. After WWI he left this
job and opened Erciyes Pharmacy in the Je-
welers’ Bazaar (Sarraflar Carsisy) (264). Later
he moved this pharmacy to a building in Ka-
zancilar Bazaar (265). After Kafescioglu's de-
ath in 1952, the pharmacy was run by an other
pharmacist for four years. It was transferred
to Mustafa Ozbakir in 1956.

Mustafa Ibrahim Efendi (1878-1933), one of the
first generation pharmacists, came to Kayseri
in 1919. After working for a while at the Muni-
cipal Pharmacy, he opened Sifa Pharmacy in a
two story stone building at the front of the
Kayseri Castle facing the Kazancilar Bazaar
(266). Following the death of Mustafa [brahim
Efendi, Pharmacist Cemal Emden became the
responsible; however the license of Sifa Phar-
macy was cancelled when Emden opened Sii-
mer Pharmacy in 1935.

Pharmacist ibrahim Hakki Gover (1884-1942)
arrived in Kayseri in 1924, teaching for a num-
ber for years at Kayseri Lisesi (Kayseri High
School) (267). He worked as pharmacist of the
Municipal Pharmacy then $ifa Pharmacy, fol-
lowing the death of Ibrahim Efendi. He retur-
ned to teaching full time at Kayseri High Scho-
ol after Cemal Emden began managing the
pharmacy (268).

Pharmacist Nuh Naci Sariabdullahoglu (1880-
1952) was appointed to the position of Head
Pharmacist of Kayseri Hospital in 1921. Altho-
ugh he was appointed to the position of Head
Pharmacist of Nigde Hospital in 1923, he left
this position after a couple of years to open
Nuh Naci Merkez Pharmacy in Kayseri in
1925 (269). The pharmacy continued under
the management of others after the death of

the Sariabdullahoglu in 1952. Today it is ma-
naged by pharmacist Hatice Giilsen Odev, fo-
urth generation granddaughter of Nuh Naci
Sariabdullahoglu.

Pharmacist Ahmet Hayreddin Bilgen (1894-
1980), originally from Sivas, graduated from
the School of Pharmacy and Veterinary Medi-
cine at Istanbul University on November 7,
1920. He opened Sifa Pharmacy in 1930, loca-
ted at Hikiimet Caddesi No:13 in Nigde. He al-
so became a partner in the Kayseri Itimat Me-
dicine Storehouse (270).

Pharmacist Cemal Emden (1902-1976) opened
a pharmacy in Develi in 1927 and worked the-
re for five years. In 1932, upon the death of ib-
rahim Efendi, he became the responsible phar-
macist of the pharmacy. He then opened the
Siimer Pharmacy on Nazmi Toker Street. In
1953, he founded “Siimer Pharmaceutical La-
boratory” and started to produce large amo-
unts of medicines that were licensed by the Mi-
nistry of Health (271). He moved his pharmacy
to a building on Serdar Street in Cumhuriyet
Quarter in 1956, and he provided service there
until he closed the pharmacy in 1971.

Following these pharmacists, Hazim Gonen fo-
unded Kayseri Pharmacy; Mustafa Giintan, Gii-
ven Pharmacy; Mehmet Oguz, Saglk Phar-
macy; Mustafa Kilicer, Yeni Pharmacy; and
Naime Demirkan, Vatan Pharmacy. The num-
ber of the pharmacies in Kayseri increased
day by day (272).

It is notable that Naime Demirkan (1919), the
first female pharmacist in Kayseri, has been
actively involved in pharmaceutical business
in Kayseri for the last 52 years. Demirkan, who
was actively involved in politics in the 1960s,
became a parliamentary candidate for the Jus-
tice Party (273) (Adalet Partisi).
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One of the most important developments in
terms of the history of Kayseri’s pharmacy
was the founding of the Turkish Pharmacists’
Association (T.E.B.) 12th Regional Chamber
of Pharmacists in Kayseri in 1972. The Board
of Founders, which until that time had served
in the representative offices related to the An-
kara Chamber of Pharmacists, included Nihat
Kilicer, Mehmet Oguz, Ozdemir Akgiin, Dogan
Persentili, N. Mehmet Kasik¢i, Naime Demir-
kan, Fuat Bilen, Mehmet Gokalp and Dogan
Oguzkaya, under the leadership of Mustafa
Ozbakir. With considerable effort, and despite
limited opportunities, Mustafa Ozbakir and Ni-
hat Kilicer, Head of the Board of Founders, be-
gan registering the pharmacists of Nevsehir,
Kayseri and Yozgat, followed by Kirsehir.
They held their first board meeting on Febru-
ary 15, 1972. From 1972 to 2005, 25 different
executive boards have served. The names of
the Chairmen of the Board of Directors of the
Chamber are as follows (274):

1. Pharm. Nihat Kilicer
(01.02.1972 - 12.03.1972)
2. Pharm. Mehmet Oguz
(12.03.1972 - 04.10.1973)
3. Pharm. Mustafa Ozbakir
(04.10.1973 - 02.09.1974)
4. Pharm. Dogan Oguzkaya
(02.09.1974 - 04.10.1976)
5. Pharm. Ismail Kocatiirk
(04.10.1976 - 10.10.1977)
6. Pharm. Mehmet Canbulan
(10.10.1977 - 30.10.1978)
7. Pharm. Yasar Coskunsu
(30.10.1978 - 12.01.1981)
8. Pharm. Arif Turkyar
(12.01.1981 - 04.10.1982)
9. Pharm. Sami Bamyacioglu
(04.10.1982 - 30.09.1987)
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10. Pharm. Ugur Guntan
(30.09.1987 - 29.09.1993)

11. Pharm. Meliha Mutlu
(29.09.1993 — 04.10.1995)

12. Pharm. Osman Kii¢iitkcakmak
(04.10.1995 - 01.10.1997)

13. Pharm. Hatif Hasserbetci
(01.10.1997 - 26.09.1999)

14. Pharm. Osman Kiiclikcakmak
(26.09.1999 - 30.09.2000)

15. Pharm. Giiner Cemiloglu
(30.09.2000 — 30.09.2001 )

16. Pharm. Biilent Unsal
(30.09.2001 - ...)

Considerable contributions have been made
to the development of the pharmaceutical ins-
titution in Kayseri since the foundation of the
Turkish Pharmacists Association (TEB) 12th
Regional Chamber of Pharmacists.

Another significant development in Kayseri’s
pharmaceutical history was the founding of a
pharmacy faculty at Erciyes University in
2003. The faculty was donated to Erciyes Uni-
versity after being built by the family of the
deceased pharmacist Mustafa Kilicer (1923-
1997) who was from Kayseri. It was founded
by the decree dated June 9, 2003, of the Coun-
cil of Ministers, and officially opened on No-
vember 1, 2003 (275). It is a highly modern bu-
ilding with a closed area of approximately
6500m2 . There is internet access in all of its
rooms, laboratories and classrooms, and it
has the space required for modern education.
There are 4 classrooms, each with the capa-
city to seat 56 persons and 2 amphitheaters,
each with a 90 person capacity. There are also

5 research and 8 student laboratories.

In brief, Kayseri's pharmaceutical institution
continues to accelerate day by day as in the
past.



Resim 1: Kayseri Belediye Eczanesi, 1915
Municipal Pharmacy of Kayseri in 1915 (Amumsamalar 2002, Erciyes Universitesi Yaymlari)

Resim 2: Kayseri'nin ilk eczacilanndan Cemal Emden (igaretli olan) Istanbul Dariilfununu Tip Fakiltesi Eczacilik Subesi oniinde
arkadagslanyla beraber, 1923, Kadirga-Istanbul (Selguk Emden Arsivi)
Cemal Emden (signed) with other pbarmacy students in front of the School of Pharmacy in 1923, Kadirga-Istanbul (Selcuk Emden’s Archive)
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Resim 3: Kayseri'nin ilk Misliman Tirk eczacist Mustafa Mabir Resim 4: Ecz. Nub Naci Sanabdullaboglu (1881-1952) 1910’lu yillar
Kafesgioglu (1880-1952) 1920 baglan (Gurcan Turgutoglu Arsivi) (Ecz.Giilsen Odev Argivi) Pharmacist Nub Naci Sanabdullaboglu
Mustaja Mabir Kafesgioglu (1880-1952) the first Muslim pharmacist (1881-1952) 1910s (Giilsen Odev's Archive)

of Kayseri, early 1920s (Giircan Turgutoglu's Archive)

Resim 5: Eczaci Cemal Emden eczanesinde, 1950'ler (Selcuk Emden Arsivi)
Pharmacist Cemal Emden in bis pharmacy, 1950s (Seleuk Emden’s Archive)
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Resim 6: Ecz.Mustafa Ibrabim Efendi’ye ait 1903 taribli Eczacilik Diplomas. (Mustafa Baywr Arsivi)
Pharmacist Diploma of Mustafa Ibrabim Efendi, given in 1903 (Mustafa Bayir's Archive)




